No. 72028-7-I

**COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION 1**

TIMOTHY WHITE

V.

SKAGIT COUNTY; ISLAND COUNTY

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Knoll D. Lowney, WSBA No. 23457
 Marc Zemel, WSBA No. 44325
 Smith & Lowney, P.L.L.C.
 2317 East John St.
 Seattle, WA 98112
 (206) 860-2883

2014 APR 10 4:00
 COURT OF APPEALS
 DIVISION 1

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Superior Court erred in denying Plaintiff’s requested relief, where no Public Records Act exemption exists for the documents requested—including digital ballot images and associated metadata and properties from the November 2013 election.
2. The Superior Court erred in assuming Plaintiff’s request dictated the records could not be used before they are copied.
3. The Superior Court erred in assuming release of the records would undermine ballot secrecy without any such evidence in the record.
4. In the alternative, the Superior Court erred in denying Plaintiff’s requested relief where redaction of the records would remove any exempted information.
5. In the alternative, the Superior Court erred in denying Plaintiff’s requested relief where any applicable Public Records Act exemptions are unnecessary to protect any individual’s privacy or any vital government interest.
6. The Superior Court erred in finding Skagit and Island counties’ responses to Plaintiff’s request complied with the Public Records Act’s strict procedural rules.
7. The Superior Court erred in denying Plaintiff recovery of his litigation costs and fees and in not imposing a daily penalty for Skagit and Island counties’ Public Records Act violations.

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did Skagit and Island counties meet their heavy burden to identify an explicit exemption to the Public Records Act for the requested records?
2. Did the Superior Court err in implying an exemption to the Public Records Act in Washington's election law, Title 29A RCW?
3. Did the Superior Court err in assuming Plaintiff's request dictated that the records could not be used before being copied?
4. Are the requested records "ballots" under RCW 29A.04.008(1)?
5. If certain information in the requested records is exempt from production under the Public Records Act, must Skagit and Island counties still produce the requested records with the exempted information redacted?
6. Regardless of whether there is an applicable exemption, must the documents still be produced because public access to election records furthers the public interest and would not irreparably damage any person's privacy or vital government interest?
7. Is Plaintiff a prevailing party, entitling him to full recovery of his reasonable attorney fees and costs? And should Skagit and Island counties pay a daily penalty for their Public Records Act violations?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from the Snohomish County Superior Court which denied Plaintiff's Public Records Act ("PRA" or the "Act") action. Plaintiff's suit sought to compel production of records requested under the Act, recovery of reasonable attorney's fees and costs, and the imposition of a daily penalty for Skagit and Island counties' PRA violations.

Plaintiff contends that the public records he requested from Skagit and Island counties (the “counties”)—digital images of ballots cast in the November 2013 election and associated file metadata and properties, among others—are not exempt under the PRA, and that the counties are compelled by law to provide copies of those records.

Mr. White is a longtime open-elections advocate. Clerk’s Papers (“CP”) 143. Mr. White understands that openness in the election process is a public good, gets citizens involved, increases public confidence and provides oversight against error, fraud and abuse. *Id.* To further those goals, Mr. White requested copies of ballot images and associated file metadata and properties, among other records, which the counties created in connection with the November 2013 election. CP 220-222.

As in all of Washington, both counties conduct their elections predominantly by mail. CP 182 at lines 6-12; CP 150 at lines 4-11. The counties’ voters typically receive paper ballots in the mail, record their preferences on their ballot from home, and mail the marked ballot back to the counties. *Id.* Once received, the counties scan the ballots with an off-the-shelf commercial scanner, which digitally images the paper ballots for storage as digital files on a computer, and for use with Hart Intercivic, Inc. verification and tabulation software. CP 150-51; CP 182.

After being scanned, the ballots themselves are immediately stored in a sealed ballot box and election officials need not handle them to resolve ballot images, tabulate them, or canvass the election. CP 150-51 at ¶¶ 6, 8; CP 182 at lines 15-24. The Hart Intercivic “Ballot Now” and “Tally” programs read the scanned digital images of the ballots to verify and count the images. CP 151 at ¶ 8; CP 182 at lines 21-24. The counties can use the “Ballot Now” program to retrieve any of the ballot-image files it created, and view the ballot image on a computer monitor—without needing to handle the ballots again. CP 150 at ¶ 6; CP 182 at lines 15-17 (images “resolved”¹ in the “Ballot Now” program).² The counties further maintain the ability to print copies of the ballot images and save them as PDFs or Microsoft Word documents. CP 184 at lines 16-19.

On November 6, 2013, under the PRA, Plaintiff White requested copies of the digital ballot image files created and used in the November 2013 election and all metadata and properties associated with those

¹ The “ballot resolve” process allows election officials to view images of ballots that contain markings that the tabulation program cannot interpret, but from which a human viewing the ballot image could clearly understand the intent of the voter (i.e. a circle around a candidate’s name instead of a filled-in box next to it, among other examples). *See* CP 150 at ¶ 6; CP 182 at lines 15-21.

² *See also* HartIntercivic.com, Ballot Now brochure, http://www.hartintercivic.com/sites/default/files/BallotNow_brief.pdf (last visited Aug. 14, 2014) (The Ballot Now program “[d]igitally stores ballot images (no need to handle paper ballots).”).

county-created files, among other records including those related to votes received by e-mail or fax and images of ballots not counted. CP 220-222. On December 6, 2013, Skagit County denied Plaintiff's request and provided an incomplete exemption log identifying some of the responsive records withheld, but did not include any information about requested file metadata and properties; ballots, ballot declarations, attachments and the emails themselves for votes received by e-mail; ballots and ballot declarations and sheets received by fax or other electronic transmission; or scanned images of ballots not counted. CP 230. On November 12, 2013, Island County denied Plaintiff's request without providing an exemption log or index of responsive records at all. CP 234-236. Plaintiff never received any of the public records he requested under the Act from either county. CP 214-15 at ¶¶ 6, 8.

On January 2, 2014, Plaintiff commenced this case to compel the counties to comply with the PRA and provide copies of the records. *See* CP 248-55. Through litigation, Plaintiff learned Skagit withheld over 70,000 responsive digital images,³ as well as file metadata associated with each image (CP 185) and Island withheld over 57,000 digital images and file metadata. CP 165. In doing so, the counties cited no authority

³ The scanning produces two images for each ballot, one image for each side of the ballot. CP 185.

explicitly exempting the records from production and instead asked the court to imply a new exemption from the Constitution, the broad election regulations of Title 29A RCW, and administrative code.

Following briefing from both parties, the Superior Court held a show cause hearing on February 13, 2014⁴ and denied all relief by written ruling on May 9, 2014. *See* CP 20-34. This appeal followed.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Under the PRA, there is a strong presumption for full access to public records. American Civil Liberties Union of Wash. v. Blaine School Dist. No. 503, 86 Wn.App. 688, 693, 937 P.2d 1176 (Div. 1 1997) (“The statement of public policy in the law creates the presumption that there will be full access to public records.”); Zink v. City of Mesa, 140 Wn.App. 328, 337, 166 P.3d 738 (Div. 3 2007) (The Act “establishes a strong presumption in favor of full disclosure of public records.”). The counties bear the heavy burden to overcome this presumption. RCW 42.56.550(1).

The PRA demands the Act be liberally construed to promote the enumerated policy of public control and transparency, and requires its exemptions be narrowly construed:

The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do

⁴ The Superior Court heard no testimony during the hearing, and the record was limited to documentary evidence and affidavits. The court made no stenographic or electronic record of the proceedings and no transcript is available.

not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected. In the event of conflict between the provisions of this chapter and any other act, the provisions of this chapter shall govern.

RCW 42.56.030;⁵ *See also* Resident Action Council v. Seattle Housing Auth., 300 P.3d 376, 382 (2013) (“**The PRA’s purpose of open government remains paramount**, and thus, the PRA directs that its **exemptions must be narrowly construed.**” (emphasis added)). For emphasis, “the Legislature takes the trouble to repeat three times that exemptions under the Public Records Act should be construed narrowly.” Progressive Animal Welfare Soc’y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d, 243, 260, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (“PAWS II”) (citing the Public Disclosure Act).

The language of the Act “**does not allow a court ‘to imply exemptions but only allows *specific* exemptions to stand.’” PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 262 (quoting Brouillet v. Cowles Pub’g Co., 114 Wn.2d 788, 800, 791 P.2d 526 (1990)) (emphasis added). Administrative code or**

⁵ The PRA (formerly the Public Disclosure Act) was passed by popular initiative in 1972 to preserve “the most central tenets of representative government, namely the sovereignty of the people and the accountability to the people of public officials and institutions,” by ensuring public access to government documents and records. Progressive Animal Welfare Soc’y v. Univ. of Wash., 125 Wn.2d, 243, 251, 884 P.2d 592 (1994).

policies may not exempt records either. Servais v. Port of Bellingham, 127 Wn.2d 820, 834, 904 P.2d 1124 (1995); WAC 44-14-06002(1).⁶ “[I]n the event of a conflict between the [Public Records] Act and other statutes, the provisions of the Act govern.” PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 262 (citing Public Disclosure Act, RCW 42.17.920); *see also* RCW 42.56.030.

Appellate review of the Superior Court’s ruling is de novo. Limstrom v. Ladenburg, 136 Wn.2d 595, 612, 963 P.2d 869 (1998) (“Where, as here, a trial court’s order is based solely on documentary evidence, affidavits and memoranda of law, our review is de novo.”); RCW 42.56.550(3).

V. INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Plaintiff asserts that both counties are required to provide copies of the digital ballot images, associated file metadata and properties and the other requested records under the PRA. Agencies, including counties, must produce copies of records on request, unless one of the limited exemptions to the Act applies. Agencies bear the heavy burden to show a specific exemption applies to each record; none of the exemptions contained in the Act or in other statutes apply to the records at issue here.

⁶ The reasoning behind this rule is that in order for the PRA to be effective, agencies must not be able to determine for itself which of its documents it will provide to the public and which documents will remain hidden. Servais, 127 Wn.2d at 834

The mandate to produce ballot image files under the PRA is a matter of first impression in Washington, but other jurisdictions looking at this duty rule in favor of production. See Marks v. Koch, 284 P.3d 118 (Colo. Ct. App., 2011), *cert. denied*, Colo. No. 11SC816 (July 16, 2012);⁷ Price v. Town of Fairlee, 26 A.3d 26, 190 Vt. 66 (Vt., 2011).⁸ Given the especially strong law favoring production in Washington, the same result should happen here. The counties have not met their heavy burden and the Superior Court erred in misreading Plaintiff's request, assuming facts not in the record, and implying exemptions from Washington's election law.

VI. ARGUMENT

A The Image Files and Other Records are Public Records Subject to the PRA and There Is Great Public Interest in Production.

The PRA defines "public record" broadly, "regardless of physical form or characteristics," and includes the records here. RCW 42.56.010(3). "Public records" under the Act include:

handwriting, typewriting, printing, photostating, photographing, and **every other means of recording any form of communication or representation** including, but not limited to, letters, words, pictures, sounds, or symbols, or combination thereof, and all papers, maps, magnetic or paper tapes, photographic films and prints, motion picture, film and video recordings, magnetic punched cards, discs, drums, diskettes, sound recordings and any

⁷ A copy of the Marks decision (as provided by Lexis Nexis) is at Appendix A.

⁸ A copy of the Price decision (as provided by Lexis Nexis) is at Appendix B.

other document including existing **data compilations from which information may be obtained or translated.**”

RCW 42.56.010(4) (emphasis added). The Act provides this broad definition to ensure the public maintains control over the instruments it created and to protect the public interest. RCW 42.56.030. The PRA highlights the importance of government transparency and provides a safeguard against agency abuse. Such transparency is especially important in the context of elections. *See Doe v. Reed*, 561 U.S. 186, 198, 130 S. Ct. 2811 (2010) (agreeing with Washington that transparency in the electoral process is essential to the proper functioning of a democracy).

Here, the public interest clearly warrants production of the requested ballot images and associated file metadata and properties. Production of these records would increase public oversight of (and involvement with) this fundamental instrument of democracy and facilitate civic engagement. Such transparency will promote public confidence in the election process by permitting efficient public verification of election results. Indeed, production of anonymous ballot images will restore the longstanding tradition of truly public processing and counting of elections.

Before the days of voting by mail, email and fax, thousands of volunteers and public observers mobilized to canvass every election at thousands of neighborhood precinct polling places. *See generally* 2005

Washington Code, Title 29A. Each precinct was overseen by one inspector and two citizen judges, former RCW 29A.44.410 (2005), plus such additional persons as were necessary, former RCW 29A.44.420 (2005), and were watched over by additional political observers. Former RCW 29A.60.110 (2005). Citizen election officers formed each precinct board which debated and ruled on unclear or disputed ballots or votes, former RCW 29A.60.050 (2005); former RCW 29A.60.060 (2005), and citizens did the counting. Former RCW 29A.44.450 (2005). All this was out in the open, former RCW 29A.44.250 (2005), and those volunteers stayed to the wee hours if needed. Former RCW 29A.60.030 (2005).

Now, with the final 2011 consolidation and mandatory remote voting, for budgetary reasons the legislature permanently dismantled precinct in-person election-day poll sites, but retained the goal of public oversight. *See* SB 5124, 62nd Leg., Reg. Sess., 2011 Laws 10 (effective July 22, 2011) (repealing 96 statutes and amending 83 others).⁹ All precinct volunteer positions have been discontinued and their functions assigned to a small group of officials and temporary workers operating a highly mechanized and centralized electronic canvass at each county's counting center. *Id.* Elections now run for weeks or months to count tens

⁹ Available at <http://apps.leg.wa.gov/documents/billdocs/2011-12/Pdf/Bills/Session%20Laws/Senate/5124-S.SL.pdf>

of thousands of ballots on one vendor's voting system as the ballots trickle in by mail, with few or no public observers actually watching.

Yet, the Legislature retains the desire to make elections accountable to the public with observers. *See e.g.* RCW 29A.60.170(2) (counting centers open to public observation); RCW 29A.64.041 (recounts open to public and "witnesses shall be permitted to observe the ballots"); RCW 29A.40.130; RCW 29A.04.230 (secretary of state shall make elections records "available to the public upon request."). The only statutory restraints on open observation relate to touching ballots or their containers, and operating the tabulation machine. RCW 29A.60.170(2). Producing digital copies of the records is simply the electronic-age equivalent of fulfilling the traditional public observation. Public access to images does so while respecting the enumerated proscriptions: hands-off the ballots, ballot containers and tallying equipment. Ballots have always been processed, canvassed and counted in public. The digital images created by the Hart Intercivic, Inc. voting system provides the opportunity to efficiently reaffirm the power of oversight for the public.

1. The Court Should Follow the Lead of Colorado and Vermont.

While there is no Washington precedent directly on point for this matter, appellate decisions with similar laws and facts in other

jurisdictions favor production of requested ballot images. See Marks v. Koch, 284 P.3d 118 (Colo. Ct. App., 2011), *cert. denied*, Colo. No. 11SC816 (July 16, 2012); Price v. Town of Fairlee, 26 A.3d 26 (Vt. 2011). The Court should follow Colorado and Vermont and order production of the image files and other records requested.¹⁰ Marks provides a strikingly similar case where a citizen requested copies of digital ballot images under the Colorado Open Records Act (CORA), a similar statute to the PRA. 284 P.3d at 119. Price is also similar, where the court ordered citizen access to cast ballots themselves. Price, 26 A.3d at 35.

In Marks, the City of Aspen used a corporation, like the counties did here, which provided a similar service as Hart Intercivic, Inc. to tabulate ballot images using tabulation software. Marks, 284 P.3d at 120. Paper ballots were similarly scanned with the resulting digital files stored

¹⁰ See also, Michigan—Access to Ballots Voted at an Election, Op. Mich. Att’y Gen. No. 7247 (May 13, 2010) (“Voted ballots, which are not traceable to the individual voter, are public records subject to disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act...”) (Available at <http://www.ag.state.mi.us/opinion/datafiles/2010s/op10324.htm>); California—Humboldt County scans all ballots for each election and posts the images online. See Humboldt County Election Transparency Project, <http://www.humtp.com/ballots.htm>; Minnesota—Copies of ballots in Franken-Coleman 2008 U.S. Senate election are posted online. MPR News, Challenged Ballots: You Be the Judge, http://minnesota.publicradio.org/features/2008/11/19_challenged_ballots/round1/. See also Minnesota Secretary of State, Statement of Need and Reasonableness, Proposed Permanent Rules Relating to Election (November 16, 2009), available at www.sos.state.mn.us/Modules/ShowDocument.aspx?documentid=8571 (election official is permitted “to make photocopies of the challenged ballots, because making copies...gives the public access...while still keeping the original challenged ballot secure and safe from tampering, damage or loss.”).

electronically, and the agency initially denied the records request on similar grounds. *Id.*¹¹ The Appellate Court rejected the agency’s arguments and ordered production of the images requested. *Id.* at 121-24.

First, the Colorado court found “the Colorado Constitution’s secrecy in voting requirement extends only to protect the identity of a voter and not the contents of his or her ballot—assuming the voter’s identity could not be discerned from the content of the ballot.” *Id.* at 121. While the texts of the Washington and Colorado Constitution’s “secrecy in voting” requirements are not identical, the purpose of each provision is the same. *Compare*, Washington Constitution Art. 6, sec. 6 *with* Colorado Constitution Art. 7, sec. 8. Washington law further guarantees that a voter’s identity cannot be discerned from the content of the ballot (or any other record). RCW 29A.08.161.¹²

Second, the Colorado court held the digital images are “not ballots” and that “releasing them would not be contrary to [Colorado’s] ballot storage and destruction provision.” Marks, 284 P.3d at 122. The

¹¹ The agency asserted (1) the images were “in fact ballots themselves,” (2) releasing the images would violate the Constitution’s secrecy in voting requirement, and (3) releasing the images would violate Colorado’s “ballot storage and destruction provision.” Marks, 284 P.3d at 120.

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