No. 72028-7-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

TIMOTHY WHITE,

Appellant,

v.

SKAGIT COUNTY and ISLAND COUNTY,

Respondents.

SKAGIT COUNTY'S RESPONSE

RICHARD A. WEYRICH Skagit County Prosecuting Attorney

A. O. DENNY, WSBA #14021 MELINDA MILLER, WSBA #30143 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Office Identification #91059

Skagit County Prosecuting Attorney 605 South Third Street Mount Vernon, WA 98273 (360) 336-9460

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

- (1) Prohibiting any "person except those employed and authorized by the county auditor [to] touch any ballot or ballot container."

 RCW 29A.60.170.
- (2) Securing ballots at voting centers or ballot drop locations.

 RCW 29A.84.540 ("Any person who, without lawful authority, removes a ballot from a voting center or ballot drop location is

guilty of a gross misdemeanor punishable to the same extent as a gross misdemeanor[.]")⁷

- (3) Securing ballots during transport from drop boxes to the counting center. RCW 29A.40.160(13) ("Ballots from drop boxes must be returned to the counting center in secured transport containers.")
- (4) Securing all received return envelopes from receipt, to opening, to processing. RCW 29A.40.110(2):

All received return envelopes must be placed in secure locations from the time of delivery to the county auditor until their subsequent opening. After opening the return envelopes, the county canvassing board shall place all of the ballots in secure storage until processing. Ballots may be taken from the inner envelopes and all the normal steps may be performed to prepare these ballots for tabulation.

(5) Preventing unauthorized examination of ballots to identify the name of a voter and how the voter voted; to determine how a known voter voted; or to identify the name of the voter who voted in a known manner. RCW 29A.84.420.

⁷ Similarly, "[a]nyone who, without authorization, removes from a voting center a paper record produced by a direct recording electronic voting device is guilty of a class C felony[.]" RCW 29A.85.545.

- (6) Sealing "[o]riginal and duplicate ballots" in secure storage . . . at all times, except during duplication, inspection by canvassing board, or tabulation." RCW 29A.60.125.
- (7) Requiring an audit trail for duplicate ballots. RCW 29A.60.125.
- (8) Sealing ballots after tabulation. RCW 29A.60.110 (Sealed ballot containers may only be opened by the canvassing board (1) as part of the canvass, (2) to conduct recounts, (3) to conduct a random check under RCW 29A.60.170, or (4) by order of the superior court in an election contest or dispute.)

Additionally, the legislature provided for the destruction of ballots

– as opposed to their continued storage in secure containers then being tossed in the trash – "60 days after date of certification" for non-federal elections, CP 66, by authorizing the "destruction of official public records [] pursuant to a schedule approved [by the records committee established] under RCW 40.14.050." RCW 40.14.060(1). Also see Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Wash. v. McCarthy, 152 Wn. App. 720, 737, 218 P.3d 196 (2009)

("destruction of public records authorized when pursuant to state approved schedule.") citing RCW 40.14.060-.070; RCW 40.14.030(1) (The requirement to transfer public records to the state archives once they are no longer required "has no application to public records approved for destruction under [chapter 40.14 RCW].") Thus, the State Archivist

directed that ballots be destroyed 60 days after a non-federal election. CP 66.8

Balancing ballot secrecy and security with public scrutiny, the legislature allows authorized persons to observe the canvassing of ballots, but does not allow them to touch a ballot. RCW 29A.60.170(2) ("no persons except those employed and authorized by the county auditor may touch any ballot or ballot container or operate a vote tallying system.") If someone wants to obtain a ballot, a court order is needed. RCW 29A.60.110 ("The containers may only be opened by the canvassing board as part of the canvass, to conduct recounts, to conduct a random check under RCW 29A.60.170, or by order of the superior court in a contest or election dispute.") (Emphasis added).

The court's decision in *Quigley v. Phelps*, 74 Wash. 73, 77, 132 P. 738 (1913), in which the plaintiff sought to have ballots unsealed and

(Emphasis in original).

⁸ White implicitly concedes that the State Achivist has the authority to adopt a schedule for destruction of public records, including ballots, at page 24 of his Opening Brief where he states, "The state archivist shall "insure the maintenance and security of all state public records and to establish safeguards against unauthorized removal or destruction."

⁹ White's argument that denial cannot be based upon an excuse that records are available from another source, Opening Brief at 34, fails to recognize that the court is not another source. It is simply the authority, upon proper petition, for obtaining ballots from the county auditor..

admitted as evidence at trial, is instructive in that the court affirmed the need for an election contest or dispute before ballots could be disclosed:

... before these ballot boxes are opened and ordered to be counted, to submit some proof to satisfy the court in a reasonable way that there is a just ground to believe that the election officials have failed to perform their duty."

Quigley v. Phelps, 74 Wash. at 77. "The argument that a contestant, though strongly suspecting malconduct, would have no means of proving it outside of the ballots themselves [did] not impress [the court]." Quigley v. Phelps, 74 Wash. at 85.

The court extended "[t]he sanctity of the ballot box" to the canvassing process and emphasized that it "is not to be invaded simply because a vote is close, and it is hoped that a re-check of the work performed by the precinct officers may possibly show a change or an error." *State ex rel. Doyle v. Superior Court*, 138 Wash. 488, 492, 244 P. 702 (1926). 10

Finally, the legislature enforced the mandate for ballot secrecy and security with significant penalties. Failure to perform any duty relating to elections or knowingly or fraudulently violating any provisions of law

¹⁰ Washington courts continue to consider the ballot inviolable. *See Democratic Party of Wash. v. Spellman*, 101 Wn.2d 94, 95, 675 P.2d 1222 (1984) Dore, dissent ("If our democratic system, as we know it, is to survive, our court should not hesitate to act on constitutional issues [guaranteeing a partisan primary] to ensure the sanctity of the ballot box.")

relating to such duty is classed as a felony and leads to forfeiture of the person's office. RCW 29A.84.720.¹¹ Also see RCW 29A.84.030 ("A person who willfully violates any provision of this title regarding the conduct of mail ballot primaries or elections is guilty of a class C felony[.]"); RCW 29A.84.680(2) ("Except as provided in this chapter [29A.84 RCW], a person who willfully violates any other provision of chapter 29A.40 RCW is guilty of a misdemeanor.")

Election staff would have violated the constitutional mandate and several statutes and been subject to criminal charges and dismissal from office if they had provided White with images of voted ballots.

C. The body of election laws that provide for ballot secrecy and security is an "other statute" that exempts ballots from disclosure under the PRA.

"RCW 42.56.070(1) makes an exception for records that fall within . . . an 'other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of

¹¹ RCW 29A.84.720 ("Every person charged with the performance of any duty under the provisions of any law of this state relating to elections, including primaries, or the provisions of any charter or ordinance of any city or town of this state relating to elections who willfully neglects or refuses to perform such duty, or who, in the performance of such duty, or in his or her official capacity, knowingly or fraudulently violates any of the provisions of law relating to such duty, is guilty of a class C felony punishable under RCW 9A.20.021 and shall forfeit his or her office.") Also see State ex rel. Hanson v. Wilson, 113 Wash. 49, 53, 192 P. 913 (1920) ("The performance by the election officers of the duties imposed upon them can be reasonably well secured by providing a penalty for failure so to do.")

specific information or records." *In re Dependency of K.B.*, 150 Wn. App. 912, 919, 210 P.3d 330 (2009).¹²

In *Progressive Animal Welfare Society v. Univ. of Wash.*, 125 Wn.2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994) (*PAWS II*), the court set out the analysis to determine whether an "other statute" establishes an exemption from disclosure:

... Thus, if another statute (1) does not conflict with the Act, and (2) either exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific public records in their entirety, then (3) the information may be withheld in its entirety notwithstanding the redaction requirement. . . .

PAWS II, 125 Wn.2d at 261-262 (footnotes and citations omitted).

Redaction and then release is not required when an "other statute" exempts a record from disclosure under the PRA. *PAWS II*, 125 Wn.2d at 261; *Fisher Broad.*— *Seattle TV LLC v. City of Seattle*, 180 Wn.2d 515, 528 n.5, 326 P.3d 688 (2014). (The PAWS II test determines whether a statute "exempts a record in its entirety.")

¹² RCW 42.56.070(1) ("Each agency . . . shall make available for public inspection and copying all public records, unless the record falls within the specific exemptions of [an] other statute which exempts or prohibits disclosure of specific information or records.")

1. The election laws that address the handling and processing of ballots are an "other statute."

The body of election laws that conform to the constitutional mandate for ballot secrecy qualifies as an "other statute" that exempts records from disclosure under the PRA.

The election laws identified above provide for cradle to grave security for ballots, including electronic records of voter choices. They limit the uses of ballots to specific purposes, allow public observation but restrict handling of ballots to election staff, require destruction after the election has been certified and a holding period has expired, require a court order – rather than a request for records – before anyone other than election staff may obtain a copy, and impose criminal penalties for unauthorized disclosure. In other words, ballots cannot be diverted for copying or viewing – other than the fleeting observation allowed under the statutes – through a request for records.

The court of appeals has already recognized that an entire statutory scheme can qualify as an "other statute" that prevents disclosure under the PRA. In *Deer v. DSHS*, 122 Wn. App. 84, 93 P.3d 195 (2004) the court held that chapter 13.50 RCW was a comprehensive body of laws and regulations that balanced access to sensitive records and exempted juvenile dependency records from disclosure under the PRA. *Deer* is instructive because chapter 13.50 RCW does not mention or reference the

PRA and the PRA does not specifically exempt juvenile dependency records.

In finding that chapter 13.50 RCW, which governs the release of dependency records, is an "other statute" within the meaning of the PRA, the *Deer* court held:

This interpretation of chapter 13.50 RCW [that it governs the release of dependency records] is consistent with the PDA's purpose of exempting from its purview only those "public records most capable of causing substantial damage to the privacy rights of citizens." Chapter 13.50 RCW resolves the potential conflict between the disclosure of juvenile records and concerns for the privacy of the juvenile and of his or her family by strictly limiting the types of juvenile records that an agency may release and the parties to whom it may release them, thereby preserving "anonymity and confidentiality."

Deer v. DSHS, 122 Wn. App. at 91-92 (citations omitted).

The *Deer* court then held that chapter 13.50 RCW did not conflict with the PRA because "chapter 13.50 RCW contains an alternative means of requesting and seeking juvenile dependency records that balances and protects the privacy needs of the juvenile and his or her family[.]" *Deer v. DSHS*, 122 Wn. App. at 91.

Ballots, like juvenile dependency records, are accorded anonymity and confidentiality. This follows from Washington's constitutional mandate for their absolute secrecy. *Also see Buckley v Valeo*, 424 U.S. 1,

237; 96 S Ct 612; 46 L Ed 2d 659 (1976) (Burger, C.J., concurring in part and dissenting in part) ("secrecy and privacy as to political preferences and convictions are fundamental in a free society. For example, one of the great political reforms was the advent of the secret ballot as a universal practice.") *Also see* 29 C.J.S. Elections § 322 (2012) (entitled "Secrecy in Voting") ("Privacy casting one's ballot is a sacred rule of law."); 26 Am. Jur. 2d Elections § 307 (2012) (entitled "Necessity for Secrecy") (A secret written ballot is used "to prevent recrimination against people who vote for losing candidates."); 26 Am. Jur.2d Elections § 307 (2012) ("Secrecy after casting a ballot is as essential as secrecy in the act of voting and should also be protected as vigorously.")¹³

Like the laws in chapter 13.50 RCW, the election laws provide for secrecy of a specific type of record – ballots – and, when allowed, a means for disclosing those records. This balances the constitutional mandate for absolute secrecy and security with the need to contest elections. Thus, the

¹³ White's argument, at page 30 of his Opening Brief, that the superior court erred because "there is no evidence in the record showing production would undermine ballot secrecy" ignores the constitutional mandate for "absolute secrecy of the vote" and the statutory cradle to grave security imposed to protect ballot secrecy. It also ignores the uncontradicted fact that the "[r]elease of voted ballots [especially when there is a low turnout or for a vote on a localized issue] creates a risk of violating the ballot secrecy required by article 6, section 6 of the Washington Constitution." *See* CP 93.

election laws are an "other statute" and exempt ballots from disclosure under the PRA.

2. An electronic ballot image is a ballot.

White ignores "context" when he argues that a ballot image is not a ballot.

(1) "Ballot" means, as the context implies, either:

. . .

- (b) A facsimile of the contents of a particular ballot whether printed on a paper ballot or ballot card or as part of a voting machine or voting device;
- (c) A physical or electronic record of the choices of an individual voter in a particular primary, general election, or special election; or
- (d) The physical document on which the voter's choices are to be recorded;

RCW 29A.04.008(1) (emphasis added)...

In arguing "or," as used above, is exclusive – either a ballot is paper or electronic, but can't be both – and that production of ballot images would not expose ballots to tampering or fraud, Opening Brief at 22, White ignores the overriding context of ballot secrecy and security.

In the context of ballot secrecy where an image of a ballot could just as certainly lead to identification of a voter as the original ballot, "or" is used as an inclusive disjunctive, meaning "one or more of the unlike things can be true." *See Lake v. Woodcreek Homeowners Ass'n*, 169 Wn.2d 516, 528, 243 P.3d 1283 (2010) ("The dictionary describes 'or' as

a 'function word' indicating 'an *alternative* between different or unlike things.' In this sense, 'or' is used to indicate an *inclusive* disjunctive—one or more of the unlike things can be true.") (Citation omitted, emphasis in original).

By asking the court to find that only one of the definitions of a ballot can be true, White asks the court to ignore the "context" of ballot secrecy and security. Thus, his argument that the creation of a ballot image for tabulation must be unlawful is confusing. Opening Brief at 32. The legislature avoided this absurd interpretation by including electronic images within the definition of a ballot. Therefore, it is the release of a ballot image without a court order that is unlawful, not the creation of one required to tabulate votes.

Finding that an image of a ballot stored in a computer that is maintained in a secure room may be disclosed upon request would defeat the mandate for absolute secrecy of ballots.

3. The election laws do not conflict with the PRA.

The PRA specifically provides that "other statute[s]" can prohibit disclosure of public records. RCW 42.56.070(1).

In comparison with chapter 13.50 RCW, which exempts all juvenile dependency records, no matter how innocuous and without a redaction requirement, the ballot secrecy laws are more narrowly drawn.

They exempt just one specific type of record: ballots. Being drawn more narrowly than chapter 13.50 RCW and serving to fulfill a specific constitutional mandate, election laws that provide for ballot security laws do not conflict with the PRA.

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